FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/12/2023 2:34 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101892-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE GARDENS CONDOMINIUM, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Respondent,

v.

FARMERS INSURANCE EXCHANGE, a California company,

Petitioner.

FARMERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Timothy W. Snider, WSBA #39808 Rita V. Latsinova, WSBA #24447 Jenna M. Poligo, WSBA #54466 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 206.624.0900

Attorneys for Petitioner Farmers Insurance Exchange

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Farmers Insurance Exchange ("Farmers").

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Farmers seeks review of the published decision by the Court of Appeals, Division One, filed on December 19, 2022 and attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals denied Farmers' motion for reconsideration/clarification on March 15, 2023. This decision is also attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether Division One's published decision warrants review and reversal when it interpreted the resulting loss exception to the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion in Farmers' property insurance policy in a manner that renders the exclusion meaningless and is in conflict with:

(1) this Court's decisions in *Vision One, LLC v.*Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Co., 174 Wn.2d 501, 276 P.3d

300 (2012), and Hill & Stout, PLLC v. Mutual of Enumclaw

Insurance Co., 200 Wn.2d 208, 515 P.3d 525 (2022), which upheld the validity and enforceability of similarly worded exclusions, and the Court of Appeals' recent published decision in Windcrest Owners Ass'n v. Allstate Insurance Co., 524 P.3d 683 (Wash. Ct. App. 2022), which interpreted a similarly worded exclusion consistently with Vision One and Hill & Stout. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

(2) this Court's decision in *Sprague v. Safeco Insurance Co. of America*, 174 Wn.2d 524, 276 P.3d 1270 (2012) (and decisions by courts elsewhere), which held that a resulting loss exception applies only when there is loss to other property apart from the damage excluded under the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Farmers issued a property insurance policy to The Gardens

Condominium ("The Gardens") from October 15, 2002 to

October 15, 2004. The policy excluded coverage when faulty or

defective construction, design, or repairs "initiate[] a sequence of

events that results in loss or damage, regardless of the nature of any intermediate or final event in that sequence." Appendix B (Joint Stipulation) ¶ 3 (Exclusion 3.c, the "Faulty Workmanship Exclusion"). This Court has repeatedly upheld similarly worded coverage exclusions when damage occurs after a sequence of events initiated by an excluded occurrence. *See Hill & Stout*, 200 Wn.2d at 226-29; *accord Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co.*, 188 Wn.2d 171, 183, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017) ("It is perfectly acceptable for insurers to write exclusions that deny coverage when an excluded occurrence initiates the causal chain and is itself either the sole proximate cause or the efficient proximate cause of the loss.").

The parties stipulated that The Gardens' roof assembly was designed and built (and later rebuilt) defectively and lacked proper ventilation. The lack of ventilation initiated a sequence of excess humidity and condensation that produced the decay and deterioration for which The Gardens sought coverage. The

parties stipulated that the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion in section 3.c applied. Appendix B (Joint Stipulation) ¶¶ 8-9. The parties disagreed, however, "as to the scope and application of the resulting-loss¹ *exception* to exclusion 3.c." *Id.* ¶ 9 (emphasis added). The exception to the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion reads, "[B]ut if loss or damage by a Covered Cause of Loss results, we will pay for that resulting loss or damage." *Id.* ¶ 3.

Farmers read the exclusion and its exception together. It maintained that the exception did not resurrect the coverage for the excluded sequence "initiated by" faulty construction. *See Hill & Stout*, 200 Wn.2d at 228-29. Because the purpose of the exception is to "limit" the exclusion, *Sprague*, 174 Wn.2d at 529, the prevailing interpretation (adopted by this Court) is that a resulting loss exception applies only when there is damage to other property, *id.* at 530 ("If there had been losses other than to

¹ The terms "resulting" loss and "ensuing" loss are interchangeable. *Vision One*, 174 Wn.2d at 513 n.6.

the fin walls – an injury to a person hurt by the collapse or property damaged by the deck failure – coverage would have existed under the ensuing loss provisions of the policy."). Because, as in *Sprague*, there was no damage other than the excluded damage to the defectively built and poorly ventilated roof assembly, the resulting loss exception did not apply. *Id*.

In contrast, The Gardens read the exception in isolation and argued that it was entitled to coverage because "condensation" or "humidity" were not separately and expressly excluded perils. On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court recognized that Washington law requires an exclusion and its exception to be harmonized, without rendering either provision superfluous. The Gardens' theory admittedly failed this test:

THE COURT: ... [A]t the heart of this is [the] ["]initiates a sequence of events that results in loss or damage["] [exclusion] ... can you give me a factual scenario where that language would then have meaning and where your interpretation ... of

the ensuing loss provision wouldn't essentially render it meaningless. . . ?

Mr. Houser: Thank you, Your Honor. That's a great question. I tried to think of an example[,] and I couldn't think of one.

Appendix C (CP 596-97; Tr. 7:23-8:15). The trial court granted Farmers' motion and entered judgment in its favor. *Id.* (CP 629; Tr. 40:3-11) ("[I]t's hard for me to follow the Plaintiff's interpretation, [and] not essentially render [the 'initiates a sequence of events'] provision superfluous."). The Gardens appealed.

Unlike the trial court, the Court of Appeals did not give meaning to the "initiates the sequence of events" language in the exclusion and did not attempt to harmonize the exclusion with the resulting loss exception. In fact, it barely mentioned the exclusion at all. *See The Gardens Condo. v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 521 P.3d 957, 961 n.5 (Wash. Ct. App. 2022). Focusing almost entirely on the exception in isolation from the exclusion, it ruled that because the parties had stipulated that condensation was part

of the chain of events initiated by faulty construction and was not separately excluded, "the plain language of the policy mandates coverage if condensation is a covered peril." *Id.* at 962 & n.8; *see also id.* at 960. It reversed the summary judgment in Farmers' favor and remanded the case for trial. *Id.* at 962.

Under the Court of Appeals' interpretation, even if the policy excludes a chain of events initiated by faulty workmanship (e.g., increased humidity or condensation due to inadequate ventilation), the resulting loss exception requires every link in the already-excluded causal chain to be excluded again, by name. This renders the "initiates a sequence of events" exclusionary language meaningless, contrary to Washington law. This petition followed.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Washington Courts Interpret Insurance Policies as a Whole by Harmonizing Policy Provisions Without Rendering Any Language Meaningless

Washington courts construe insurance policies to "give effect to every clause in the policy." *Kitsap County v. Allstate*

Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 567, 575, 964 P.2d 1173 (1998). Following this canon, when construing policies with Faulty Workmanship Exclusions that include resulting loss exceptions, courts have upheld the "overarching principle" that "the [resulting/ensuing loss] exception cannot be allowed to swallow the exclusion." Rocky Mountain Prestress, LLC v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 960 F.3d 1255, 1261-62 (10th Cir. 2020); see also Vision One, 174 Wn.2d at 514-15 ("[A]n ensuing loss provision might narrow the ... exclusion" but "[t]he uncovered event ... is never covered." (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)); Port of Seattle v. Lexington Ins. Co., 111 Wn. App. 901, 912-13, 48 P.3d 334 (2002) (The resulting loss exception cannot "swallow[] the exclusion.").

Structurally, it also is "improper" to interpret the resulting loss exception as a grant of coverage for defective construction "[g]iven the placement of the ensuing loss clause in ... the defective construction and materials exclusion[.]" *McDonald v*.

State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 119 Wn.2d 724, 734, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992); see also Capelouto v. Valley Forge Ins. Co., 98 Wn. App. 7, 16, 990 P.2d 414 (1999) ("Ensuing loss provisions are exceptions to policy exclusions and thus should not be interpreted to create coverage."); accord Seattle Tunnel Partners v. Great Lakes Reinsurance (UK) PLC, 200 Wn.2d 315, 330, 516 P.3d 796 (2022) ("It would be an unreasonable interpretation to conclude that an internal cause of damage 'that is clearly an excluded risk under the policy was meant to become compensable because in a philosophical sense it can also be classified' as an external cause." (citation omitted)).

Importantly, under Washington law, "[i]t is perfectly acceptable for insurers to write exclusions that deny coverage when an excluded occurrence initiates the causal chain and is itself either the sole proximate cause or the efficient proximate cause of the loss." *Xia*, 188 Wn.2d at 183; *see also Hill & Stout*, 200 Wn.2d at 228-29 ("[I]nsurers can contract to say that

coverage is excluded *for a causal chain* initiated by an excluded peril." (emphasis added)). Whether broad or narrow, when the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion contains a resulting loss exception, "the purpose of [that exception] . . . is to *limit* the scope of [a faulty workmanship] exclusion," not to "swallow" it whole or "create" coverage for an excluded event. *Sprague*, 174 Wn.2d at 529 (emphasis added); *Port of Seattle*, 111 Wn. App. at 912-13; *Capelouto*, 98 Wn. App. at 16.

"Such clauses ensure 'that if one of the specified uncovered events takes place, any ensuing loss which is otherwise covered by the policy will remain covered. *The uncovered event itself, however, is never covered.*" *Vision One*, 174 Wn.2d at 515 (emphasis added; citation omitted); *see also* 11 Steven Plitt et al., *Couch on Insurance* § 153:2 n.8, Westlaw (3d ed. database updated Nov. 2022) ("Ensuing loss clauses ensure that if one of the specified uncovered events takes place, any ensuing loss which is otherwise covered by the property

insurance policy will remain covered; the uncovered event itself ... is never covered." (emphasis added)). As this Court has held, under policies with "initiates a sequence of events" language, like Farmers' policy, the "uncovered" event includes "causal chain[s]" initiated by faulty construction. See Hill & Stout, 200 Wn.2d at 228-29 (emphasis added).

Applying these principles, this Court in *Sprague* described the limits of a resulting loss exception to a Faulty Workmanship Exclusion. In *Sprague*, the homeowner sought coverage for the deteriorated deck supports ("fin walls") encased in stucco. As here, the damage to the fin walls was caused by the faulty lack of ventilation. There was no other damage. "The question presented … [was] whether the advanced decay of the fin walls was a separate, ensuing loss that was covered under the policy despite the exclusions for rot and building defects." *Sprague*, 174 Wn.2d at 528 (footnote omitted).

The Court concluded that it was not, because only the defectively built deck system suffered damage:

If there had been losses other than to the fin walls – an injury to a person hurt by the collapse or property damaged by the deck failure – coverage would have existed under the ensuing loss provisions of the policy. . . . [T]hat was not the case here. The only loss was to the deck system itself. That loss resulted from rot caused by construction defects.

Id. at 530-31; cf. Vision One, 174 Wn.2d at 506, 515-16 (where faulty shoring collapsed, causing damage to the "framing, rebar, and newly poured [first floor] concrete," coverage of the defective shoring work was excluded by the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion, but the "other" damage—the destruction of the newly poured floor—was a covered "ensuing loss").

Under *Sprague*, "the [resulting loss] clause breaks the causal chain between the excluded risk and losses caused by the excluded peril in order to provide coverage for the *subsequent* losses." 174 Wn.2d at 529 (emphasis added); *see also Eagle W. Ins. Co. v. SAT, 2400, LLC*, 187 F. Supp. 3d 1231, 1237 (W.D.

Wash. 2016) ("Unlike in Vision One, where collapse resulted in damage to other property, the loss in *Sprague* was only to the deck itself. Had the deck actually collapsed and damaged other property, the policy's ensuing loss clause would have applied and allowed recovery; without the collapse and ensuing damage, no recovery was allowed."). To further illustrate, when defectively designed transformers overheated and suffered damage, "[a]n ensuing loss would be one which occurred subsequent to the overheating of the transformers, for example, fire destruction of the building which housed the transformers.' . . . If the damage to the transformers is considered an ensuing loss, then the exception swallows the exclusion." Port of Seattle, 111 Wn. App. at 912 (quoting Vt. Elec. Power Co. v. Hartford Steam Boiler Inspection & Ins. Co., 72 F. Supp. 2d 441, 445 (D. Vt. 1999)).

This interpretation harmonizes the resulting loss exception with the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion without rendering either

provision meaningless. Courts across the country, including in New York, Vermont, Massachusetts, Florida, California, Oregon, Colorado, Texas, Maryland, and Arizona, have adopted similar interpretations of the resulting loss exception. Montefiore Med. Ctr. v. Am. Prot. Ins. Co., 226 F. Supp. 2d 470, 479 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) ("ensuing loss" exception "does not cover loss caused by the excluded peril, but rather covers loss caused to other property wholly separate from the defective property itself" (emphasis added)); Vt. Elec. Power Co., 72 F. Supp. 2d at 445 ("Where a property insurance policy contains an exclusion with an exception for ensuing loss, courts have sought to assure that the exception does not supersede the exclusion by disallowing coverage for ensuing loss directly related to the original excluded risk." (citation omitted)); H.P. Hood LLC v. Allianz Glob. Risks U.S. Ins. Co., 39 N.E.3d 769, 774 (Mass. App. Ct. 2015) ("Whatever else can be said about the case before us, it is not one where an excluded occurrence involving initial property damage led to other property damage of a different kind."); Swire Pac. Holdings, Inc. v. Zurich Ins. Co., 139 F. Supp. 2d 1374, 1382 (S.D. Fla. 2001) ("This is not an instance where portions of the building (or the entire building itself) collapsed and injured other property, or even other portions of the building itself. If so, the result may have been different. . . . To find otherwise would be to eviscerate the exclusion and render meaningless the terms of the exclusion . . . "), aff'd, 331 F.3d 844 (11th Cir. 2003); Sapiro v. Encompass Ins., 221 F.R.D. 513, 522 (N.D. Cal. 2004) (applying California law); Prudential *Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Lillard-Roberts*, No. CV-01-1362-ST, 2002 WL 31495830, at *19 (D. Or. June 18, 2002) ("In other words, an ensuing loss provision does not cover loss caused by the excluded peril, but rather covers loss caused to *other property* wholly separate from the defective property itself." (internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (emphasis in original)); 12W RPO, LLC v. Affiliated FM Ins. Co., 353 F. Supp. 3d 1039

(D. Or. 2018) (applying Oregon law); *Rocky Mountain Prestress*, *LLC*, 960 F.3d at 1260-64 (applying Colorado law); *Aetna Cas*. & *Sur. Co. v. Yates*, 344 F.2d 939 (5th Cir. 1965) (applying Texas law); *Jowite Ltd. P'ship v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, No. DLB-18-2413, 2020 WL 4748544, at *9 (D. Md. Aug. 17, 2020) (applying Maryland law), *aff'd*, No. 20-1937, 2021 WL 5122173 (4th Cir. Nov. 4, 2021); *Cooper v. Am. Fam. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 184 F. Supp. 2d 960, 964-65 (D. Ariz. 2002) (applying Arizona law).

Other courts have adopted a similar approach to ensure that the resulting loss exception does not swallow the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion. In *TMW Enterprises, Inc. v. Federal Insurance Co.*, 619 F.3d 574 (6th Cir. 2010), the Sixth Circuit held that the resulting loss exception applies when the first, excluded cause results in a separate, unforeseeable covered cause that causes damage in an unforeseeable way, such as when a water leak caused by defective construction shorts an electrical socket and causes a fire. Under *TMW*, the resulting loss

exception prevents the insurer from "avoid[ing] coverage for losses remotely traceable to an excluded cause," but does not cause insurers to cover foreseeable results of the excluded cause. *Id.* at 579. *TMW* is widely followed.²

While this Court has not adopted *TMW*, it has repeatedly cited its rationale with approval. *Vision One*, 174 Wn.2d at 516;

² See Friedberg v. Chubb & Son, Inc., 691 F.3d 948, 952-53 (8th Cir. 2012) (no "ensuing loss" for a "foreseeable and natural consequence" of faulty work); Taja Invs. LLC v. Peerless *Ins. Co.*, 717 F. App'x 190, 192 (4th Cir. 2017) (unpublished) ("[C]ourts generally agree ... that ... an ensuing loss clause applies only when there is significant attenuation between the direct result of a workmanship defect and the ultimate loss for which coverage is sought, usually due to an independent or fortuitous intervening cause. In other words, an ensuing loss provision 'excludes from coverage the normal results of defective construction, and applies only to distinct, separable, and ensuing losses." (quoting *Friedberg*, 691 F.3d at 953)); Russell v. NGM Ins. Co., 176 A.3d 196, 206 (N.H. 2017) ("We agree with the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals that, when there is an exclusion for loss caused by faulty workmanship, 'it should come as no surprise that the botched construction will permit ... water ... to enter the structure and inside of the building and eventually cause damage to both.' This is particularly so in the instant case when, according to the homeowners, the faulty workmanship consists of 'ventilation and insulation construction defects." (alterations in original) (citation omitted)).

Sprague, 174 Wn.2d at 529; Seattle Tunnel Partners, 200 Wn.2d at 330. Specifically, this Court agreed that if the resulting loss exception is construed as any "but for" consequence of the excluded peril, it would be "limited only by the imagination of the reader" and render the exclusion meaningless:

"What if faulty construction allows humid summer air to enter the building, which rusts metal fixtures? But for the exposure to the summer air, no damage to the fixtures would have occurred. Yet the contract does not exclude damages caused by 'air.' Coverage? What if a poorly constructed ceiling beam falls, smashing the floor below? But for the force of gravity, no damage to the floor would have occurred. Yet the contract does not exclude damages caused by 'gravity.' Coverage?"

Vision One, 174 Wn.2d at 516 (quoting *TMW*, 619 F.3d at 576-77).

B. The Court of Appeals Interpreted the Resulting Loss Exception to Swallow the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion Contrary to Washington Law

The Court of Appeals ignored all these principles in interpreting the Faulty Workmanship Exclusion in Farmers' policy. It reduced the exclusion to a mere footnote, depriving it

of any meaning in conflict with *Vision One*, *id*. at 501, and *Hill* & *Stout*, 200 Wn.2d at 208. And it applied no limitation to the resulting loss exception in conflict with *Sprague*, 174 Wn.2d at 524, and the "overarching" principle that the exception cannot be allowed to swallow the exclusion, *Rocky Mountain Prestress*, 960 F.3d at 1261-62; *Port of Seattle*, 111 Wn. App. at 912. The Court of Appeals' resulting interpretation fails to "give effect to every clause in the policy," *Kitsap County*, 136 Wn.2d at 575, and warrants review and reversal to restore consistency with *Sprague*, *Vision One*, and *Hill & Stout*.

1. The Court of Appeals gave no meaning to the "initiates the sequence of events" language in the exclusion, contrary to this Court's settled precedent

The Court of Appeals' decision deprives the "initiates a sequence of events" language in Farmers' Faulty Workmanship Exclusion (and in other property policies with similar exclusions) of any substantive meaning. *The Gardens*, 521 P.3d at 961 n.5. This ruling is contrary to this Court's consistent

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