FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/26/2023 12:36 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101892-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE GARDENS CONDOMINIUM, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Respondent,

v.

FARMERS INSURANCE EXCHANGE, a California company,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

HOUSER LAW, PLLC

By: Daniel S. Houser WSBA No. 32327 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210 Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

1325 4th Avenue, Suite 1650 Seattle, WA 98101 2506 (206) 427-9172 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Regardless, as the Court of Appeals explained, the Gardens conceded that "the resulting loss clause [does] not preserve coverage for correcting the defective sleepers"

15

installed in its otherwise non-defective roof. (Op. 4 n.3; *see also* App. Br. 20; CP 214) The Gardens thus does not seek coverage for replacing the defective sleepers, but "other" non-defective property, *e.g.*, the fireboard, sheathing, and joists within its roof. Farmers' contention, throughout its petition, that the Gardens sought coverage for the entire "roof assembly" (Pet. 3-5, 22-23, 26) misstates the Court of Appeals' decision and ignores the Gardens' concession.⁷

Farmers misconstrues this Court's discussion of *Allianz Insurance Co. v. Impero*, 654 F. Supp. 16 (E.D. Wash. 1986) in *Vision One* as support for its "other" property interpretation. (*See* Pet. 12, 25, citing *Vision One*, 174 Wn.2d at 506, 515-16) As this Court noted in *Vision One, Impero* ruled the resulting loss clause did not apply

⁷ As it noted in the trial court (CP 471 n.11), the Gardens conceded the resulting loss clause did not preserve coverage for the cost of correcting the defective sleepers to streamline this dispute despite the fact the sleepers suffered condensation and water damage that was potentially a covered resulting loss.

because the only claim was "for the cost of repairing poorly constructed concrete walls." 174 Wn.2d at 516, ¶ 30. Because "the sole claim [was] for the cost of correcting the deficiencies" the loss was excluded. *Impero*, 654 F. Supp. at 18. Stated differently, there was neither any resulting damage nor any covered cause of loss.

Farmers also mischaracterizes *Sprague* as rejecting resulting loss coverage on the ground that "[t]he only loss was to the deck system itself." (Pet. 12) In fact, however, *Sprague* held there was no coverage because there was no "separate loss apart from th[e] *perils*" of defective workmanship and rot, both of which were expressly excluded. 174 Wn.2d at 529, ¶ 13 (emphasis added).

By contrast, the hypothetical example offered in *Vision One* explains that resulting loss coverage turns on whether there is resulting damage caused by a covered peril, not the location of that damage. As this Court explained, if a faulty wire causes a fire, then an "ensuing

17

loss clause would preserve coverage for damages *caused by* the fire." 174 Wn.2d at 515, ¶ 28 (emphasis added). In other words, fire damage is covered whether it burned only the one wood stud touching the defective wire or if the fire also spread to other parts of the building. Indeed, below Farmers agreed with this Court's observation in *Sprague* that "a (covered) fire loss resulting from (excluded) defective wiring" is the "classic example" of a resulting loss. (*See* Resp. Br. 21 n.8, citing 174 Wn.2d at 529, ¶ 14)

Likewise, here the damage to sheathing, fireboard, and joists caused by condensation and humidity is covered damage regardless of whether located one inch, six feet away, or 20 feet away from the defective sleepers. Farmers' own cases confirm as much. *See Eagle W. Ins. Co. v. SAT*, *2400, LLC*, 187 F. Supp. 3d 1231, 1237 (W.D. Wash. 2016) (cited at Pet. 12-13) (while the insured could not "recover for the elements of the roof that themselves were inadequately maintained," it could "recover for damage to portions of the roof that were adequately maintained and subsequently damaged by rainwater infiltration"); *see also Blaine Const. Corp. v. Ins. Co. of N. Am.*, 171 F.3d 343, 350 (6th Cir. 1999) (insulation within a roof cavity damaged by water intrusion was a resulting loss despite being "adjacent material" to defectively installed vapor barrier; applying Tennessee law).

Because the parties stipulated that the Gardens suffered loss or damage caused by potentially covered perils—condensation and humidity—resulting from faulty workmanship, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that coverage in this case turns on whether condensation and humidity are covered perils and remanded for a determination of that issue. (Op. 10) Its decision is entirely consistent with *Vision One. See* 174 Wn.2d at 516, ¶ 31 ("if the policy covers the peril or loss that results from the excluded event, then the ensuing loss clause provides coverage").

3. The Court of Appeals gave meaning to all language in the faulty workmanship exclusion.

The Court of Appeals did not, as Farmers argues, nullify its faulty workmanship exclusion by adhering to *Vision One*. By acknowledging that the resulting loss clause did not preserve coverage for the cost of correcting the installation of defective sleepers (Op. 4 n.3), the Court of Appeals heeded this Court's instruction in *Vision One* that the "uncovered event itself" is never covered and gave meaning to the exclusion, contrary to Farmers' allegation the Court of Appeals interpreted the resulting loss clause to "swallow" the exclusion by finding "coverage for defective construction." (Pet. 8, 10)

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of Farmers' resulting loss clause as preserving coverage if damage by a covered event results from faulty workmanship, but not the cost of correcting the faulty workmanship itself, is not only consistent with the actual policy language and *Vision One*, but also with decisions from numerous other courts. *See, e.g., Blaine*, 171 F.3d at 349-51; *Eagle West*, 187 F. Supp. 3d at 1237; *Arnold v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, 276 Wis.2d 762, 688 N.W.2d 708, 718-19 (2004); *Dawson Farms, L.L.C. v. Millers Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 794 So.2d 949, 952 (La. App. 2 Cir. 2001), *writ denied*, 803 So.2d 34 (La. 2001), *writ denied* 803 So. 2d 37 (La. 2001); *Cockerham v. Am. Fam. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 561 S.W.3d 862, 866-67 (Mo. Ct. App. 2018); *Bartram, LLC v. Landmark Am. Ins. Co.*, 864 F. Supp. 2d 1229, 1233-35 (N.D. Fla. 2012).⁸

Like the Court of Appeals, these courts have recognized that excluding the cost of remedying faulty workmanship from the scope of a resulting loss clause "avoids an interpretation that renders any provision

⁸ Some of these cases also involved damage caused by condensation. *See, e.g., Blaine*, 171 F.3d at 345 (resulting loss clause preserved coverage for "ceiling insulation ruined by water that had condensed within the insulation cavity"); *Dawson Farms*, 794 So.2d at 953-54 (policy "covered resulting water condensation damage").

useless or redundant." *Cockerham*, 561 S.W.3d at 867; *see also Bartram*, 864 F. Supp. 2d at 1234-35 ("no language in the policy . . . would be rendered superfluous by taking it to mean that the policy excludes coverage for fixing the faulty workmanship, but the ensuing loss that resulted from water intrusion is covered").

Farmers' contention that the Court of Appeals interpreted the resulting loss clause to impermissibly "create" coverage confuses what part of its policy creates coverage. (Pet. 10) As this Court explained in *Vision One,* under an all-risk policy, perils are covered "unless the specific risk is excluded." 174 Wn.2d at 513, ¶ 23. The purpose of an exclusion's language, including the language of Farmers' faulty workmanship exclusion stating it applies to any "sequence of events" "initiate[d]" by faulty workmanship (*see* Pet. 19-24), is to define the "specific risks" that are excluded.⁹ And the purpose of a resulting loss clause is "to carve out an exception to [a] policy exclusion" by ensuring that "any ensuing loss which is otherwise covered by the policy will *remain* covered" by the initial grant of coverage for "all risks." *Vision One*, 174 Wn.2d at 514-15, ¶¶ 26-27 (emphasis added); *see also Panfil v. Nautilus Ins. Co.*, 799 F.3d 716, 721 (7th Cir. 2015) ("an exception to an exclusion does not provide coverage" but "*preserve[s]* coverage already granted"; emphasis in original).

⁹ As *Vision One* demonstrates, absent this language damage initiated by faulty construction, but also caused by a covered event, would be covered. *See Vision One*, 174 Wn.2d at 509, 521-22, ¶¶ 12, 47 (because insurer could not "rely on the 'sequence of events' causation clause" the trial court correctly ruled loss was covered if "caused by one or more non-excluded event(s) in combination with one or more excluded event(s)"). Similarly, here without the "initiates a sequence" language, the faulty workmanship exclusion would not have applied because it would have only excluded losses caused "directly and solely" by faulty workmanship and Farmers stipulated condensation and humidity acted as "independent cause[s] of distressed and decayed building components." (CP 43, 269)

Farmers' argument that its resulting loss clause cannot apply to any "individual links in [a] causal chain" "initiated" by faulty workmanship is thus absurd and ignores that the very purpose of a resulting loss clause is to preserve coverage for losses that would otherwise be excluded. Cf. State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 221, 230-31, 559 P.2d 548 (1977) ("To conclude that a statutory exception is not to be given effect because to do so renders superfluous a portion of the general language which the exception is designed to restrict, would result in a conclusion that nearly all exceptions . . . are of no force and effect"). It also ignores the ordinary meaning of "result." Bartram, 864 F. Supp. 2d at 1235 ("the policies in this case plainly provide that if an excluded cause of loss 'results' in a covered cause of loss, then 'we will pay'"); Cockerham, 561 S.W.3d at 867 ("an ordinary purchaser of insurance would conclude that where one loss *results* from another loss caused by faulty

construction, such resulting loss is covered"; emphasis in original).

The Venn diagram below provides a useful way of conceptualizing the interaction between a faulty workmanship exclusion, represented by the outer circle, and a resulting loss clause, represented by the inner circle:

Exclusion for faulty workmanship and sequences of events initiated by faulty workmanship Exception preserving coverage for damage caused by a covered peril resulting from faulty workmanship

Although the resulting loss clause preserves coverage for some losses that would otherwise be excluded, language defining the initial scope of the faulty workmanship exclusion still has meaning in determining the universe of excluded losses that do *not* result in an otherwise covered peril.

The diagram also demonstrates how the resulting loss clause would be rendered meaningless by Farmers' interpretation. As the diagram underscores, a resulting loss clause can *only* apply to loss or damage within the scope of the underlying exclusion because resulting loss clauses are, by their very nature, exceptions to exclusions. Accordingly, if, as Farmers argues, a resulting loss clause does not apply to damage within the initial scope of the exclusion, then a resulting loss clause will *never* apply.

The Court of Appeals correctly "g[a]ve effect to *each* provision in the policy." *Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 272, ¶ 10, 267 P.3d 998 (2011)

26

(emphasis in original; quoted source omitted); see also Cockerham, 561 S.W.3d at 867 (rejecting argument "exclusion for losses 'caused by' faulty construction" precluded application of resulting loss clause because "such a reading would render useless or redundant the resulting loss clause"); Dawson Farms, 794 So.2d at 952 ("The [resulting loss clause] is meaningless unless ... any damage resulting from [poor workmanship and design] is covered."); Sixty-01 Ass'n of Apartment Owners v. Pub. Serv. Ins. Co., No. C22-1373-JCC, 2023 WL 2079215, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 17, 2023) (unpublished, cited per GR 14.1) (citing Court of Appeals' decision to reject insurer's argument that court should ignore its promise to pay for "resulting loss or damage").

Farmers' argument the Court of Appeals' decision will require insurers to "re-exclude" in a resulting loss clause "every link in the already-excluded causal chain" is also meritless. (Pet. 7; *see also* Pet. 24) If Farmers wished to preclude without exception coverage for resulting losses initiated by faulty workmanship, then it could have, like the insurer in *Hill & Stout*, simply not included a resulting loss clause in its exclusion. Or it could have, like the insurer in *Windcrest*, limited the perils covered by its resulting loss clause, thereby excluding all others. Indeed, Farmers' policy demonstrates that it knows how to vary the scope of a resulting loss clause. (*See, e.g.*, CP 34: earth movement exclusion stating only covered resulting losses are explosion and fire; CP 35: nuclear hazard exclusion stating only covered resulting loss is fire; CP 35: war exclusion not subject to any resulting loss exception)

Farmers also erroneously argues that the Court of Appeals' interpretation might result in coverage for losses caused by "gravity" or other connived perils. (Pet. 18) Farmers does not—and has never—denied that its policy contemplates coverage for condensation and humidity, as confirmed by the fact that it excluded these same perils in later policy years (CP 148, 152), that it excluded water under certain circumstances not applicable here (CP 35), and that in later policy years it simply excluded all water damage. (CP 142-43, 146, 151) *See also Vision One*, 174 Wn.2d at 517, ¶ 36 (noting the insurer "does not argue that collapse was a risk beyond the reasonable contemplation of the policy").

The "limitation" (Pet. 24) Farmers seeks is the language it could have—but did not—include in its policy. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that "nothing precludes an insurance company from drafting policy language" that would have excluded the coverage that its resulting loss clause preserves. (Op. 7 n.5) *See also Lynott*, 123 Wn.2d at 688 ("In evaluating the insurer's claim as to meaning of language used, courts necessarily consider whether alternative or more precise language, if used, would have put the matter beyond reasonable question."") (quoting 13 John A. Appleman & Jean Appleman,

29

Insurance Law & Practice § 7403 (1976)). The Court of Appeals—consistent with Washington precedent—credited Farmers' choice to include a broad resulting loss clause in its policy. This Court should deny review.

4. Farmers' arguments premised on outof-state authority that conflicts with *Vision One* present no grounds for review.

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Farmers' argument based on *TMW Enterprises, Inc. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 619 F.3d 574 (6th Cir. 2010) (Pet. 27-30) that a resulting loss clause applies only to "independent, unforeseen covered perils." (Op. 9)¹⁰ In *TMW*, a divided decision, the majority held that damage caused by water that seeped through improperly constructed walls was not covered under the policy's resulting loss clause "because defective

¹⁰ As with its "other" property interpretation, even if correct, this interpretation would not be a basis for reversal since Farmers stipulated that condensation and humidity were independent causes of the damage. (CP 269)

wall construction naturally and foreseeably leads to water infiltration." 619 F.3d at 579. According to the majority, a resulting loss clause only preserves coverage for "independent, non-foreseeable losses caused by faulty construction." 619 F.3d at 578.

This Court expressly rejected the importation of independence and non-foreseeability requirements into a resulting loss clause in *Vision One* by reversing Division One's holding that the resulting loss clause did not apply because "[t]here was no *independent* covered peril." *Vision One, LLC v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co.*, 158 Wn. App. 91, 107, ¶ 32, 241 P.3d 429 (2010) (emphasis added). Indeed, the *TMW* interpretation would invert the result in *Vision One*—collapse is the foreseeable, if not inevitable, result of supporting a massive concrete floor with defectively designed and installed shoring.¹¹

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Farmers' request to abandon Washington precedent in favor of Sixth Circuit precedent that directly conflicts with *Vision One*. Its decision presents no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b).

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

¹¹ Cases that have followed *TMW* recognize it conflicts with *Vision One. See Taja Invs. LLC v. Peerless Ins. Co.*, 717 F. App'x 190, 192 n.2 (4th Cir. 2017) (Pet. 17 n.2) (explaining that requiring "an independent or fortuitous intervening cause" contradicts the statement in *Vision One* that "the dispositive question in analyzing ensuing loss clauses is whether the loss that ensues from the excluded event is covered or excluded"); *see also Friedberg v. Chubb & Son, Inc.*, 691 F.3d 948, 953-54 (8th Cir. 2012) (Pet. 17 n.2) (cited with approval in *Taja*); *Russell v. NGM Ins. Co.*, 170 N.H. 424, 176 A.3d 196, 204 (2017) (Pet. 17 n.2) (citing *Taja* with approval).

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 4,983 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).